IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SIDE WHITE
MAY 21 1996
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner/Cross Respondent,

•

v. : CASE NOS. 87,788 &

87,789

MAURICE HORN,

Respondent/Cross Petitioner. :

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS PETITIONER

GLEN P. GIFFORD
Assistant Public Defender
Second Judicial Circuit
Fla. Bar No. 0664261
301 S. Monroe, Suite 401
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT/ CROSS PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question of great public importance:

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY</u> APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

Horn v. State, 21 Fla. L.Weekly D867 (1st DCA April 12, 1996). This issue was first certified by the district court in Lett v.State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D580 (1st DCA Mar. 5, 1996), rev..

pending, Fla.Sup.Ct. No. 87,541. The case of Mr. Horn's codefendant is also before this Court on discretionary review.

Lee v. State, Fla. Sup. Ct. No. 87,715.

In this brief, citations to documents in the record proper as well as the transcript of the sentencing hearing appear as

(R[page number]). Citations to the trial transcript are designated (T[page number]). References to the supplemental record appear as (S[page number]).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged Horn and codefendants Demetrius Holden and Brian David Lee with second degree murder, three counts of attempted second degree murder and shooting at an occupied vehicle. (R33-36)

Horn went to trial before Circuit Judge Jere Tolton. (T1)

Counsel for Horn exercised peremptory challenges during a bench conference while Horn remained at counsel table. (S3) On the record, Horn did not waive his presence during exercise of peremptory challenges or ratify the challenges made by his counsel. (S15-16) At one point during the exercise of peremptory challenges, the court granted the request of Horn's counsel for a "skull session." (T141)

The trial proceeded, and reached closing arguments. During his initial closing argument, the prosecutor repeatedly told the jury, "Don't be robbed of your common sense" by the arguments of the defense lawyers. (T1192, 1193, 1195, 1212, 1219, 1244) He referred to the arguments of defense counsel, primarily counsel for Lee, as attempts to "confuse," (T1188), "innuendoes," (T1193, 1202, 1237, 1244, 1248), and "hogwash." (T1202) During his rebuttal, the prosecutor responded to the prediction by Lee's attorney that state witness Freddy Wayne McLaughlin would receive a deal on his pending first degree murder charge. (T1295, 1303) He said defense counsel is "trying to poison your mind." (T1306)

The prosecutor then discussed defense assertions concerning evidence that other, uncharged persons were present with guns during the killing. (T1304)

These people weren't even up there and there are names everywhere. They're still doing the name game. The only names you have to worry about are the names of these folks that are on trial here. That's the one you're going to have to deal with what they did as either comparative, if you think anybody did anything else, but mainly what they did. What did they do? They don't want to talk about what they did or what they said in their statements. No.

You will have the opportunity to hear that over and again. It's hard to argue lack of evidence, although again they're trying, even by bringing evidence that's not in the trial. It's real hard, the things that aren't even true, to poison your mind. That's all I can call that.

(T1305-1306) Lee's counsel interrupted to object and move for a mistrial or curative instruction, on grounds that the prosecutor had accused the defense of fabricating evidence and lying.

(T1306) Counsel for Horn joined in the motion. (T1308) The prosecutor responded that his comments were invited by the insupportable assertion that the state and McLaughlin had made a deal. (T1306-1307) Counsel responded that the prosecutor's accusations of lying went beyond the subject of McLaughlin and that they belittled the defense. (T1309) The court denied the motion for mistrial and the request of both counsel for Lee and the state for a curative instruction, and suggested that the prosecutor apologize. (T1309-1310) The prosecutor resumed his

argument:

Ladies and gentlemen, I just want to sincerely apologize to you because in responding to what Mr. Harrison said, I've talked about some things that are not in evidence in this case. But I felt it necessary to cover that because he covered it, on both of those issues. And I think the Judge will instruct you of this, you're not to consider things that haven't been said in this courtroom and haven't come from the witness stand.

(1310)

On the counts alleging second degree murder and attempted second degree murder, the court instructed the jury on the lesser included offenses of third degree murder and attempted third degree murder, based on the underlying felonies of aggravated assault, aggravated battery and shooting at an occupied vehicle. (T1374-1375)

The jury found both Lee and Horn guilty of the lesser included offenses of third degree murder and attempted third degree murder in Counts I-III, not guilty in Count IV, and guilty as charged of shooting at an occupied vehicle in Count V. (T1420-1423, R150-155) Holden, whose counsel sang a portion of his closing argument, (T1333) was acquitted on all counts. (T1423)

Counsel for Lee and Horn moved for a new trial, arguing inter alia that the prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument deprived the defendants of an impartial jury. (T156, 359-363)

The judge stated that he did not have to determine whether the

comments constituted misconduct, as they were harmless, particularly in light of the prosecutor's apology. (T367) The motion was denied. (T367, R296) Counsel for both defendants objected to enhancement of the felony murder and attempted felony murder counts on grounds that the use of a deadly weapon was essential to each of the underlying felonies. (R158-175, T376-382) The prosecutor noted that the defense had not objected to instructions on the underlying felonies, at least one of which, aggravated battery, did not require proof of use of a deadly weapon. (T385-389, R176-182) The court ruled the sentence enhancements proper, adjudicated Lee and Horn guilty of the offenses, and imposed a guideline sentence of 17 years imprisonment on both defendants for the felony murder, concurrent to shorter sentences for the other offenses. (T410-413, R307-323)

On relinquishment of jurisdiction, the parties determined that Horn remained at counsel table while the parties exercised peremptory challenges at the bench, and that he did not expressly waive his presence at the bench or expressly ratify the choices made by counsel in selecting the jury. (\$3-4, 15-16) Pinkerton stated that generally, he discusses the composition of the jury with his clients during the exercise of peremptory challenges. (\$5-8) He could not recall any specific discussions with Horn, but said he felt certain he tried to enlist Horn's participation. (\$8) Pinkerton stated:

I don't have any recollection whether Mr. Horn at any point in time had some reservation or question about keeping or striking a particular juror. All I can tell you is the process was discussed. I feel certain that we probably did discuss individual jurors and that he had no objection to the jury that was ultimately selected.

(S21) He also stated that, as a matter of strategy, he and counsel for the codefendants exercised challenges as a group, and that all seven exercised by the defense team were charged to codefendant Brian David Lee. (S5, 16) Counsel stated that he did not explain that all peremptory challenges exercised were attributed to Lee. (S16-17)

During the hearing on relinquishment, the prosecutor and court stated that the defense lawyers returned to counsel table several times and appeared to discuss the exercise of peremptory challenges. (T13, 18) The court stated that it was obvious that the defendants were satisfied with the jury impaneled. (S22)

Jurisdiction returned to the district court, which reversed the convictions of attempted felony murder and deleted the firearm enhancement for the count of third-degree felony murder. The court rejected Horn's argument that he was entitled to a new trial based on his absence from the bench during exercise of peremptory challenges, but certified a question of great public importance on whether Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995), applies to "pipeline" cases. The Court certified

several more questions on the remedy when a defendant is convicted of the nonexistent crime of attempted felony murder. The court summarily rejected Horn's claim that prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument compelled a new trial. Horn v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D867 (1st DCA April 12, 1996).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arose from a shooting that occurred on Martin Luther King Avenue in Crestview at approximately midnight on Friday night, December 10, 1993. The scene was a crowded area surrounding a bar named The Cozy Corner, known as Rachel's. (T549) Curtis Durm, a passenger in a truck damaged in the shooting, was killed by a bullet wound to the brain. (T276, 588) The fatal injury was a single entry wound at the bridge of the nose, with no exit wound. (T588, 598) The medical examiner testified that the wound is consistent with a bullet that was flattened after contact with another object. (T591-603) A bystander, Tyshena Durm, was wounded by a bullet in the abdomen (T267-268, 294-296)

One to two weeks before the shooting, Freddy Wayne

McLaughlin was involved in a fight with one of the defendants,

Brian David Lee. (T904-905) McLaughlin struck Lee on the head

with a weapon resembling a police nightstick. (T904) Someone led

Lee, who was bleeding, away from the scene. (T500) Olivia LaFaye

Bryant said that the next day, Lee said he should have shot

Freddy Wayne, and that it wasn't over. (T522) Maurice Horn,

Lee's cousin, said, "I got your back," according to Bryant.

(T523)

McLaughlin, facing first degree murder charges for the shooting death of an infant held by Jeffrey Brown, testified for

the state. (T302) He said that on the night of the fight, Brown shot a gun at him. (T307) McLaughlin, a former police informant, said he'd had problems with others trying to fight him. (T303, 339) On the night of the shooting, McLaughlin was searching for Brown either to fight him or resolve their disagreement, he said. (T312) McLaughlin said that although he had a 12-gauge shotgun with him, he didn't intend to shoot Brown. (T313-314) He backed his truck next to Brown's car across from Rachel's. (T314) Nicole Seals and Curtis Durm were passengers in the truck. (T313)

Earlier that night, Lee, Horn and others attended a party at the home of Marky Bess Nelson. (T455-456) Bryant testified that Horn and Keith Shanklin with there with guns. (T54) Defense witness Stephanie Daniels Smith testified that Nelson had a "rectangle gun." (T988) Freddy Larry said he took a .22 revolver from Nelson's home to Rachel's, and gave it to Horn 10-15 minutes before the shooting. (T456-460)

Bryant testified that while in the area of Rachel's, she heard Lee say he was going to get McLaughlin, "going to beat him up, anyway." Horn, Holden and Larry were in the group that then moved with Lee toward the truck. (T528) McLaughlin said that as he was seated in the truck talking to Reggie Bradshaw, Lee and Horn approached on foot. (T315) McLaughlin was trying to pull out as he heard Lee say, "You're a dead motherfucker, Freddy Wayne." (T316) Numerous witnesses then heard and saw shots, and

saw Horn and Lee holding guns. (T316, 376, 379, 475-476, 529-530, 536) Bryant identified Horn, Lee and Holden as having guns during the shooting. (T536) McLaughlin said the final shot that hit the truck was a shotgun slug, fired by Aaron McQueen. (T338) He said he also saw someone else -- not Lee or Horn -- with a shotgun. (T339) Defense witness Patrice Dixon testified that, hours after the shooting, Bryant identified other shooters as well, including Javarias Skinner. (T984) Skinner had been involved in the fight that concluded with McLaughlin striking Lee in the head. (T356-359)

Witness Celina Durm said she saw Horn shoot 5 to 10 shots, and heard 15-20 shots in all, some not from Horn. (T476)

Stephanie Daniels Smith, a defense witness, testified that she saw McLaughlin point a gun out the truck window before any shooting began. (T993) Another defense witness, Deundra

Frederick, saw he saw McLaughlin shooting from the truck. (T943)

According to Smith, Horn fired once, then the gun jammed and would not shoot again. (T996) She said that in the direction the gun was pointed when fired, the shot could have hit only the rear tire or fender. (T995-996) His gun appeared to be a .22-caliber weapon, she said. (T1003) She also said that others had guns out, including Marky Nelson, and that shots came from every direction. (T998)

Horn and Lee gave statements to police. Horn said he fired

a Western-style, .22 revolver once at the left rear tire of the truck, didn't know how to make it fire again, and gave it back to Fred Larry. (T719) Lee said he fired five times at the truck with a .357 revolver, to scare McLaughlin. (T713)

Horn testified at trial that he fired once after seeing what looked like a gun in McLaughlin's hand on the driver's side of the truck. (T1060) He was unable to fire the gun a second time, he said. (T1071)

Edard Love, a firearms examiner, testified that an exhibit identified as being removed from Curtis Durm's brain contained fragments of both a large caliber bullet and a .22 bullet. (T838) He said the .38 could have ricocheted off a post in the passenger compartment before striking Durm, but that it was "not likely" a .22 bullet could strike the post and retain sufficient energy to penetrate a human skull. (T855-856) The medical examiner, Edmund Kielman, testified that in his decades of experience he had never been involved in a case in which two bullets entered a body at the same spot. (T640)

Love testified that the bullet removed from Tyshena Durm was a .38 or .357 caliber hollow point or soft point, fired from the same type of gun as the large caliber bullet removed from Curtis Durm. (T844) The truck contained several other bullets or jackets of bullets fired by the same .38 or .357 weapon. (T845-846) There were no identifiable small-caliber bullets or bullet

holes in the truck. (T880) Love identified several cartridge cases found in the street after the shooting as coming from a 9-millimeter weapon. (T81)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. This is the issue which is before this Court as a certified question. Petitioner was not present at the site of selection when the jury was chosen and therefore was unable to participate in the selection of his jury. Petitioner's case is one of the so-called "pipeline cases," falling between the time of Coney's trial, yet before the decision was rendered in Coney v State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

Equal protection under the law, as well as decisions of this and other courts, demands that Petitioner be granted the same relief as was granted those whose trials occurred after the date of the <u>Coney</u> decision. This is true whether <u>Coney</u> is considered "new law" or not. At the very least, the law which preceded <u>Coney</u>, and upon which <u>Coney</u> was decided, mandates that Petitioner be granted the same relief.

In <u>Coney</u>, the state conceded that Coney's absence during for-cause challenging of the jury was error under <u>Francis v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982), but the error was held harmless. Here, the state is estopped from arguing that what occurred here — the same factual scenario — is not error.

Error has occurred, and it is not harmless, inasmuch as

Horn's trial counsel exercised challenges in tandem with counsel

for the codefendants. Thus there is error, it is harmful, and it

is impossible to assess the consequences. Thus, the answer to the

certified question must be in the affirmative, and Petitioner should be granted a new trial.

of egregiously improper remarks characterizing the defense theories as "innuendoes," "untruths" and attempts to "poison your (the jury's) mind." The remarks grew so vituperative that they drew a motion for mistrial or curative instruction, which was denied. Although the remarks primarily attacked the argument of counsel for codefendant Lee, Horn's counsel was also a target.

Moreover, because these remarks were part of a general appeal to the jurors not to be "robbed of your common sense" by the defense lawyers, and because the evidence, defense strategies and verdicts so closely identified Lee and Horn with one another, the prosecutorial misconduct prejudiced Horn equally. The remarks deprived Horn of an impartial jury, requiring reversal and remand for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

I. PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES WERE EXERCISED DURING A BENCH CONFERENCE WHILE APPELLANT REMAINED AT COUNSEL TABLE, RESULTING IN HIS ABSENCE DURING A CRUCIAL STAGE OF TRIAL WITHOUT WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO BE PRESENT OR RATIFICATION OF ACTIONS TAKEN IN HIS ABSENCE, CAUSING REVERSIBLE ERROR.

The district court certified the following question of great public importance:

DOES THE DECISION IN CONEY APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME CONEY WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

The same question has been certified by the First DCA in a number of cases, of which the first is Lett v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D580 (1st DCA Mar. 5, 1996), rev. pending, Fla. Sup. Ct. No. 87,541.

The question should be answered in the affirmative. Whether Coney is a clarification of existing law or new law, it must be applied to pipeline cases. Even were Coney not applied to this case, the statute and case law preceding Coney must be applied in the same manner as they were in Coney.

Horn remained at counsel table while the defense lawyers exercised peremptory challenges as a team. He did not expressly waive his presence, and did not expressly ratify the strikes made in his absence by his counsel and counsel for his codefendants. At one point during the exercise of peremptory challenges, the

court granted the request of appellant's counsel for a "skull session." (T141) On relinquishment of jurisdiction, Horn's trial counsel stressed that he could not recall specifically what was said between Horn and himself concerning peremptory challenges:

I do not have any specific recollection of what I said to him or what he said to me. (S5)

I don't recall any specific comments that he made, I don't recall any specific questions that I asked other than the fact that normally during jury selection I go over and sit down with a client. (S7)

Now I do not specifically recall, and I would have to say that I don't think that I did, explain to Maurice Horn how we were physically and mathematically exercising the challenges. (S16)

I don't have any recollection whether Mr. Horn at any point in time had some reservation or question about keeping or striking a particular juror. (S21)

What is important to this issue is not so much what appears on the record, as what does not appear. Nowhere is it reflected the petitioner was informed of his right to be present at the bench. Nowhere is it indicated the petitioner was present at the bench. Nowhere does the trial court **inquire** if the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary. Nowhere does the trial court **certify** that the petitioner's absence from the bench is voluntary. Nowhere does the trial court ask the petitioner to ratify the choice of jurors made by his counsel.

These are indications that petitioner was not present during

this important conference, thus the record demonstrates that only counsel for the state and the defense were at the bench.

The record is entirely silent regarding whether Horn understood the process of jury selection and, in particular, understood that the defense and the prosecution had the right to exercise peremptory challenges. Additionally, it is beyond dispute that lay persons typically do not understand what a "peremptory" challenge is.

The district court acknowledged that peremptory challenges were exercised at the bench, while Horn remained at counsel table. 21 Fla. L. Weekly at D868. It concluded, however, that he was not entitled to relief for his absence from the immediate site where the challenges were exercised, because his trial occurred before the decision of this Court in Coney.

The district court was mistaken. Horn's presence at the immediate site was compelled by court rule and cases preceding Coney. To the extent that Coney is seen as creating a new rule, it must be applied to Horn. Because this issue is already before the Court in a number of cases, the argument which follows is presented in somewhat compressed form.

A. Coney and pre-Coney Law.

The law applied in <u>Coney</u> is based upon both a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure and case law, which in turn is based on both the Florida and U.S. Constitutions.

Rule 3.180(a)(4) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure requires that a defendant in a criminal case be present "at the beginning of the trial during the examination, challenging, impaneling, and swearing of the jury" and this Court has ruled that this provision means exactly what it says. Coney at 1013.

A defendant is not present during the challenging of jurors if he is not at the location where the selection process is taking place. Thus, it is not enough that he be present somewhere in the courtroom. He must be able to hear the proceedings and participate in them. If he is seated at the defense table while a whispered selection conference is being conducted at the judge's bench, he cannot be said to be present and participating.

In <u>Coney v State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995) this Court wrote:

We conclude that the rule means just what it says: The defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised. See Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175 (Fla. 1982). Where this is impractical, such as where a bench conference is required, the defendant can waive this right and exercise constructive presence through counsel. In such a case, the court must certify through proper inquiry that the waiver is knowing, intelligent and voluntary.

Alternatively, the defendant can ratify strikes made outside his presence by acquiescing in the strikes after they are made.

See State v. Melendez, 244 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1971). Again, the court must certify the defendant's approval of the strikes through proper inquiry. Obviously, no contempo-

raneous objection by the defendant is required to preserve this issue for review, since the defendant cannot be imputed with a lawyer's knowledge of the rules of criminal procedure. Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

Id.

A waiver of the right to be present must be certified by the court to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. The judge in Horn's case made no inquiry or certification whatsoever. None of the requirements listed in the above quotation were met in the lower court.

In addition to violating Rule 3.180(a)(4), the absence of the accused at this critical stage of trial also constituted a denial of due process under the state and federal constitutions because fundamental fairness might have been thwarted by his absence. Francis v. State, 413 So. 2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982);

Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 54 S. Ct. 330, 78 L. Ed. 674 (1934); Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975). Rule 3.180 is specifically designed to safeguard those constitutional rights. Thus, when the rule is clearly violated, the constitutional rights it safeguards are also violated.

1. Only Part of Coney Appears to Be "Prospective," and Such Language Has No Effect on "Pipeline Cases" Such as This.

As argued below, the entire <u>Coney</u> decision should apply to Horn since his case was on appeal at the time Coney was decided.

A fair reading of this Court's opinion in <u>Coney</u> indicates that the only prospective parts of <u>Coney</u> are the requirements that the trial judge **certify** on the record a waiver of a defendant's right to be present at the bench or a **ratification** of counsel's action (or inaction) in the defendant's absence.

However, the state and the district court apparently believe that the defendant's right to be present at bench conferences where peremptory challenges are exercised is also a prospective rule. This is not so, and is refuted by this Court's reasoning in Coney that Rule 3.180 means just what it says.

2. State Estopped from Arguing Lack of Error.

The State of Florida is estopped from arguing that Horn's absence from the bench conference where challenges to prospective jurors were made was not error. In <u>Coney</u>, when faced with the same facts, the state conceded error. <u>Id</u>. at 1013. The state cannot assert otherwise in this case without violating Petitioner's right to equal protection of the law. <u>See State v. Pitts</u>, 249 So.2d 47, 48-50 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971) (violation of equal protection for the **state** to take contrary positions on the same issue in different cases).

This Court pointed out the state's concession of error in its opinion:

Coney was not present at the sidebar where the initial challenges were made, and the record fails to show that he waived his presence or ratified the strikes. The State concedes this rule violation was error, but claims that it was harmless.

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