FILED

SED 1 WARTE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUN 17 1996

Citiel Deputy Clerk

ENE COURT

STATE O	F FLORIDA,	:
	Petitioner/ Cross-Respondent,	:
v.		
MAURICE	MORSELLS HORN,	:
	Respondent/ Cross-Petitioner.	:

5

CASE NOS. 87,788 & 87,789

CLERK, QU

By

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER

GLEN P. GIFFORD Assistant Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit Fla. Bar No. 0664261 301 S. Monroe, Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT/ CROSS-PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In Counts 2 and 3, the state charged Horn with attempted second-degree murder by "shooting at" the victims. (R33-34) Neither victim in these counts testified to being struck in the shooting. (T316-320, 379-392) The jury was given choices of guilty of attempted second-degree murder as charged or of attempted thirddegree murder, attempted manslaughter, aggravated assault, or not guilty. (R152-153) The jury found him guilty of attempted thirddegree murder and found that he used a firearm in the offense. (R152-153)

On appeal, the district court reversed the convictions of the nonexistent crime of attempted third-degree felony murder in Counts II and III. <u>Horn v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D867 (1st DCA April 12, 1996). The court also certified the following questions of great public importance:

> WHEN A DEFENDANT IS CHARGED WITH ATTEMPTED SECOND-DEGREE (DEPRAVED MIND) MURDER AND IS CONVICTED BY Α JURY OFTHE CATEGORY 2 LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED THIRD-DEGREE (FELONY) MURDER, DO STATE V. GRAY, 654 SO.2D 552 (FLA.1995), AND SECTION 924.34, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), REQUIRE OR PERMIT THE TRIAL COURT, UPON REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTION, TO ENTER JUDGMENT FOR ATTEMPTED MANSLAUGHTER, VOLUNTARY Α CATEGORY 1 NECESSARILY INCLUDED LESSER OFFENSE OF THE CRIME CHARGED?

> IF THE ANSWER IS NO, THEN DO LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSES OF THE CHARGED OFFENSE REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The certified questions must be answered in the negative. The sole remedy for conviction of the nonexistent offense of attempted third degree felony murder is dismissal. In contrast to reduction of a conviction resting on insufficient evidence pursuant to section 924.34, Florida Statutes, no statutory authority permits reduction of a conviction of a nonexistent offense. Reduction is particularly inappropriate where, as here, the two lesser included offenses on which the jury was instructed contain an intent element absent from attempted third-degree murder. Retrial on "lesser included offenses" is also inappropriate where, as here, the two offenses on which the jury was instructed are of the same degree as the nonexistent offense. Since neither attempted manslaughter nor aggravated assault is a lesser included offense of attempted third-degree murder, nothing remains on which to retry the defendant.

ARGUMENT

NO LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES REMAIN VIABLE UPON DISCHARGE FROM THE NONEXISTENT OFFENSE OF ATTEMPTED THIRD-DEGREE FELONY MURDER.

On two counts alleging attempted second-degree murder, the court instructed the jury on lesser included offenses of attempted third degree murder, attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault. The jury found Horn quilty of the nonexistent crime of attempted third degree felony murder. The district court vacated these convictions and remanded for discharge, but certified the question whether the lesser included offenses remain viable either for reduction of the conviction pursuant to section 924.34, Florida Statutes, or for a new trial. Horn v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D867 (1st DCA April 12, 1996). The First DCA has certified the same question in several other cases, including Pratt v. State, 668 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), rev. pending, Fla.Sup.Ct. No. 87,768, and the case of Horn's codefendant, Lee v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D753 (1st DCA Mar. 25, 1996), rev. pending, Fla. Sup.Ct. No. 87,715. The question is a variation of the question certified in the apparent lead case on this issue, Wilson v. State, 660 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. granted, Fla. Sup.Ct. No. 86,680:

> WHEN A CONVICTION FOR ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE FELONY MURDER MUST BE VACATED ON AUTHORITY OF <u>STATE V. GRAY</u>, 654 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1995), DO LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES REMAIN VIABLE FOR A NEW TRIAL OR REDUCTION OF THE OFFENSE?

While <u>Wilson</u> concerns a vacated conviction of attempted firstdegree felony murder, <u>Pratt</u>, <u>Lee</u> and this case concern a vacated conviction of attempted third-degree felony murder. The argument that follows focuses on the peculiarities of the latter situation.

The remedy for conviction of the nonexistent offense of attempted third degree felony murder is dismissal. In contrast to reduction of a conviction resting on insufficient evidence, no statutory authority permits reduction of a conviction of a nonexistent offense. Reduction is particularly inappropriate where, as here, the two lesser included offenses on which the jury was instructed contain an intent element absent from attempted third-degree murder. Retrial on "lesser included offenses" is also inappropriate where, as here, the two offenses on which the jury was instructed are of the same degree as the nonexistent offense. Since neither attempted manslaughter nor aggravated assault is a lesser included offense of attempted third-degree murder, nothing remains on which to retry Horn.

Section 924.34, Florida Statutes, authorizes an appellate court to reduce a conviction on which there is insufficient evidence to a lesser offense on which the evidence is sufficient. In <u>Pratt</u>, <u>supra</u>, the district court declined to apply this provision to the nonexistent crime of attempted third-degree murder, wisely recognizing that to do so it would have to presume

an intent element that the jury specifically rejected in acquitting the accused of attempted second-degree murder. The court stated:

Such a result would encroach impermissibly on the province of the jury. We conclude that the appellant would be effectively denied his constitutional right to trial by a jury if we, sitting in an appellate capacity, were to presume a finding of intent that the jury itself did not have to make.

668 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). Here, the "lesser included offenses" of attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault contain an intent element missing from attempted third-degree murder. No appellate court may act as a jury and presume the intent necessary to either offense.

The state cannot overcome this fundamental obstacle to reduction of the conviction, and consequently focuses most of its efforts on enabling prosecution of a lesser included offense. The chief stumbling block to this result is the fact that neither attempted manslaughter nor aggravated assault, on which the jury was instructed as to the attempted murder counts, are lesser included offenses of attempted third-degree murder. Lesser included offenses are by definition lesser in penalty. Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.490. <u>See Nurse v. State</u>, 658 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), and cases cited therein. Attempted third-degree murder, attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault are all third-degree felonies, which may be reclassified to second-degree

felonies for use of a deadly weapon. Secs. 782.04, 782.07, 784.021, 777.04(4)(e), 775.087(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (1993). Aggravated battery was unavailable because neither victim in these counts was struck, and the information specified "shooting at" the victims. (R33-36) In any event, aggravated battery is a second-degree felony, greater in penalty than attempted thirddegree murder. Retrial on the remaining "lesser included offenses" of attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault is barred.

The cases on which the state pins its hopes for a different result are all inapposite, with one peculiar exception. They may be divided into several categories. First are those in which a conviction is supportable on both valid and invalid statutory elements. Examples cited by the state include <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993), in which a first-degree murder conviction was affirmed as it rested on ample evidence of premeditation though evidence supporting felony murder was insufficient, and <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), in which an attempted manslaughter conviction was reversed and the case remanded for retrial because the court instructed the jury on the nonexistent offense of attempted manslaughter by culpable negligence. (BS36) Here, there is no valid alternative theory on which the conviction might validly rest. The reason for the state's invocation of these cases is unclear.

A second category comprises cases in which convictions are reversed for a defect in the statute defining the offense. Characteristic of this category are <u>Harris v. State</u>, 649 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), and <u>Hieke v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), both invoked by the state. (BS38-42) In <u>Pratt</u>, the district court identified the controlling distinction between <u>Harris</u>, in which a conviction of sale of cocaine within 200 feet of a public housing facility was reduced, and the situation here:

> Reliance on section 924.34 is logical and proper in those instances like Harris and Paige [v. State, 641 So. 2d 179 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)], where the defendant is convicted of the charged offense based on sufficient evidentiary grounds. Where the statute underlying the major offense is declared unconstitutional, then a reversal of that conviction and an adjudication of guilt of a necessarily included lesser offense of the charged and convicted crime are appropriate because the jury has determined that an evidentiary basis exists for the lesser offense.

668 So. 2d at 1009. In contrast, observed the court, a jury rejecting second-degree "depraved mind" murder in favor of thirddegree murder, for which state of mind is immaterial, has not determined that an evidentiary basis exists for intent-based crimes such as attempted manslaughter or aggravated assault. Id.

In <u>Hieke</u>, the district court reversed a conviction of the nonexistent offense of solicitation to commit third degree murder and remanded for a new trial on aggravated battery or battery, "as same were set forth on the verdict form." As aggravated

battery is a second-degree felony, solicitation to commit thirddegree murder a third-degree felony, this result cannot be squared with Rule 3.490 or <u>Nurse</u>. 605 So. 2d at 984. One cannot discern from the opinion whether the court recognized this anomaly. Accordingly, <u>Hieke</u> should be viewed as an aberration.

A third and final line of authority cited by the state consists of cases in which an accused is convicted of a variation of a crime such as attempt which, by definition, encompasses the variation. (BS41-42) In those situations, where the jury has in fact found all the elements of the substantive offense, retrial on the substantive offense is permitted. <u>See, e.g., Brown v.</u> <u>State</u>, 550 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), <u>Cox v. State</u>, 443 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). The distinctions between those cases and this one are obvious: Horn was necessarily acquitted of the greater crime, attempted second-degree murder, when the jury found him guilty of attempted third-degree murder. Attempted third-degree murder, in which state of mind is immaterial, does not subsume attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault, both intent-based crimes.

In summary, discharge is required upon vacation of a conviction of attempted third-degree murder when remaining lesser included offenses are attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault. Entry of a judgment of a "lesser offense" is unauthorized because this is not a case of insufficient evidence,

as required by section 924.34, Florida Statutes, and because the remaining offenses of attempted manslaughter and aggravated assault contain an intent element absent from attempted thirddegree murder. Retrial on these putative "lesser included offenses" is barred because they share the same penalty as the nonexistent offense and thus are not lesser. For these reasons, the certified question asking whether the attempted murder conviction may be reduced to manslaughter must be answered in the negative, as must the question asking whether lesser included offenses remain viable for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein and the authorities cited in support thereof, Horn requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified questions in the negative and remand for dismissal of the charges on Counts II and III, in which he was convicted of attempted third-degree murder.